Jacqueline R. WALKER and Kevin R. Franklyn v MICHAEL W. COLTON TRUST Michael W. Colton, P.C., Michael W. Colton, Melvin Rosen, and Edy's Carpet Heating & Cooling, Defendants.

No. Civ. 98-40315 United States District Court E.D. Michigan Southern Division.

April 19, 1999.

III. Analysis

Only two counts remain for consideration, both contained in plaintiff's amended complaint.  Count I is entitled "Violation of the Federal Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z--15 USC # 1640(f)--Action for Damages, Attorneys Fees and Right to Rescind."   Count II is entitled "Suit in Equity to Rescind and Cancel the June 7, 1997--Credit Transaction and the Fraudulent Mortgage Document pursuant to 15 USC # 1635 et. seq.--Forthwith."  Each count will be considered below.

A. Count I--Plaintiff's Claim under Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 2601, et. seq.

[1] In the previous memorandum opinion and order issued January 13, 1999, this Court directed plaintiff to submit a more definite statement of his claim under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 2601, et. seq.   Plaintiff has failed to submit such a statement as required by this Court's previous order and pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(e).  Instead of submitting a more definite statement, plaintiff has filed an amended complaint.

In Paragraph 15 of the amended complaint, plaintiff does cite RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e), as support for the proposition that the disclosure requirements of that section have not been satisfied by defendants. (FN3)  Plaintiff alleges that the "June 7, 1997 credit transaction involving Defendant Melvin Rosen and Plaintiff Kevin Franklyn was clearly subject to the Federal Truth and Lending Act and Regulation Z (15 USC # 1640) and the Disclosure Requirements of:  15 USC # 1631(a) and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (12 USC # 2605(e)) as a matter of U.S. law."   See plaintiff's amended complaint ¶ 15.

RESPA, Section 2605, sets forth certain duties of a loan servicer after receiving borrower inquiries.  Specifically, the section requires servicers to respond to a "qualified written request" from the borrower within 20 days of receipt.  See 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(A).  The section also mandates that the servicer take certain actions within 60 days following the borrower's inquiry.  See 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2)
In the instant case, plaintiff has failed to allege that he has made such a "qualified written request" to defendants or that defendants have failed to take any actions required under 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e).  Section 2605(e) does not relate to "disclosure" requirements.  As a consequence, the Court finds that plaintiff has failed a state a claim under RESPA.  The mere citation of the statute, without more, is insufficient to satisfy the pleading requirements.  See Fed.R.Civ.Proc. 8 (plaintiff must set forth "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief...."). (FN4)

Accordingly, the Court will grant Colton defendant's motion to dismiss plaintiff's RESPA claim.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Colton defendants' second motion to dismiss complaint is GRANTED;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all claims contained in plaintiff's amended complaint are DISMISSED with prejudice;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the instant order dismissing all claims shall apply to all defendants, including defendants Melvin Rosen and Edy's Carpet Heating & Cooling;  a judgment in accordance with this order shall be entered forthwith.

SO ORDERED. JUDGMENT

The Court, having granted Colton defendants' second motion to dismiss complaint, after a hearing held on April 14, 1999, the Honorable Paul V. Gadola, District Judge, presiding,

It is hereby ORDERED and ADJUDGED that the above-entitled action be dismissed on the merits;

It is hereby ORDERED and ADJUDGED that judgment be entered in favor of defendants Michael W. Colton Trust, Michael W. Colton, P.C., Michael W. Colton, Melvin Rosen, and Edy's Carpet Heating & Cooling;

 FN3. Section 2605, Title 12, United States Code provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

(e) Duty of loan servicer to respond to borrower inquiries

(1) Notice of receipt of inquiry

(A) In general

If any servicer of a federally related mortgage loan receives a qualified written request from the borrower (or an agent of the borrower) for information relating to the servicing of such loan, the servicer shall provide a written response acknowledging receipt of the correspondence within 20 days (excluding legal public holidays, Saturdays, and Sundays) unless the action requested is taken within such period.  

(B) Qualified written request

For purposes of this subsection, a qualified written request shall be a written correspondence, other than notice on a payment coupon or other payment medium supplied by the servicer, that--

(i) includes, or otherwise enables the servicer to identify, the name and account of the borrower;  and

(ii) includes a statement of the reasons for the belief of the borrower, to the extent applicable, that the account is in error or provides sufficient detail to the servicer regarding other information sought by the borrower.  

(2) Action with respect to inquiry

Not later than 60 days (excluding legal public holidays, Saturdays, and Sundays) after the receipt from any borrower of any qualified written request under paragraph (1) and, if applicable, before taking any action with respect to the inquiry of the borrower, the servicer shall--

(A) make appropriate corrections in the account of the borrower, including the crediting of any late charges or penalties, and transmit to the borrower a written notification of such correction (which shall include the name and telephone number of a representative of the servicer who can provide assistance to the borrower);

(B) after conducting an investigation, provide the borrower with a written explanation or clarification that includes--

(i) to the extent applicable, a statement of the reasons for which the servicer believes the account of the borrower is correct as determined by the servicer;  and

(ii) the name and telephone number of an individual employed by, or the office or department of, the servicer who can provide assistance to the borrower;  or

(C) after conducting an investigation, provide the borrower with a written explanation or clarification that includes--

(i) information requested by the borrower or an explanation of why the information requested is unavailable or cannot be obtained by the servicer;  and

(ii) the name and telephone number of an individual employed by, or the office or department of, the servicer who can provide assistance to the borrower.  

(3) Protection of credit rating

During the 60-day period beginning on the date of the servicer's receipt from any borrower of a qualified written request relating to a dispute regarding the borrower's payments, a servicer may not provide information regarding any overdue payment, owed by such borrower and relating to such period or qualified written request, to any consumer reporting agency (as such term is defined under section 1681a of Title 15). 12 U.S.C. 2605(e).

FN4. The Court need not reach Colton defendants' additional argument that they do not qualify as lenders who offer "federally related mortgage loans," and thus RESPA is not applicable to them.  See 12 U.S.C. § 2602(1)(A) & (B).

Debbie JONES v. INTUITION, INC. f/k/a BTI Services, Inc. and Tennessee State Assistance Corp., 
Civil No. 97-2614-G United States District Court W.D. Tennessee Western Division. 

May 29, 1998.

FN2. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(F)(iii) states in pertinent part:

The term "debt collector" ... does not include--any person collecting or attempting to collect any debt owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another to the extent that such activity ... concerns debt which was not in default at the time it was obtained by such person.
FN3. The court notes, however, that defendant InTuition does not qualify for exemption under 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(C).  That provisions exempts government entities or officers from suit under the FDCPA provided that the debt collection was made in the performance of official duties.  This exception does not extend to nonprofit organizations with a government contract.  See Brannan v. United Student Aid Funds, Inc., 94 F.3d 1260, 1263 (9th Cir.1996) cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 117 S.Ct. 2496, 138 L.Ed.2d 1003 (1997) (holding that the > § 1692a(6)(C) exemption applies "only to an individual government officer or employee who collects debt as part of his government employment responsibilities"). Defendants direct the court to the following cases, all of which stand for the proposition that administrative student loan agencies that begin to service student loans prior to the debtor's default of the loans are excluded from application of the FDCPA under the "debt collector" exception, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(F)(iii). (FN2)  In Edler v. Student Loan Marketing Assoc., 1993 WL 625570, at *2 (D.D.C. Dec. 13, 1993), the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, after a lengthy analysis of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(F)(iii), held that because the debtor's loans were not in default when the student loan administration agency began to service them, the FDCPA was inapplicable to that agency as a matter of law.  Finding likewise, the United States District Court for Connecticut determined in Coppola v. Conn.  Student Loan Found., 1989 WL 47419, at * 2 (D.Conn. March 22, 1989), that "the legislative history of the [FDCA] indicates that Congress intended that parties who service debts not in default when obtained (such as mortgages and student loans) should be excluded from the Act's coverage."   See also Fischer v. UNIPAC Serv.  Corp., 519 N.W.2d 793, 799 (Iowa 1994) (discussing the application of the FDCPA to loan servicing agencies and stating "[w]e believe that collection efforts by holders of federally insured student loans or their servicing companies are simply not the kind of activity Congress intended to regulate.")

IT IS SO ORDERED.

FN1. In her motion for summary judgment, plaintiff adds the state law tort claims of abuse of process and malicious prosecution.  However, as neither of these claims were pled in plaintiff's complaint, they may not be considered by the court.

FN2. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(F)(iii) states in pertinent part:

The term "debt collector" ... does not include--any person collecting or attempting to collect any debt owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another to the extent that such activity ... concerns debt which was not in default at the time it was obtained by such person.

FN3. The court notes, however, that defendant InTuition does not qualify for exemption under 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(C).  That provisions exempts government entities or officers from suit under the FDCPA provided that the debt collection was made in the performance of official duties.  This exception does not extend to nonprofit organizations with a government contract.  See Brannan v. United Student Aid Funds, Inc., 94 F.3d 1260, 1263 (9th Cir.1996) cert. denied, > --- U.S. ----, 117 S.Ct. 2496, 138 L.Ed.2d 1003 (1997) (holding that the § 1692a(6)(C) exemption applies "only to an individual government officer or employee who collects debt as part of his government employment responsibilities").

KW BANCSHARES, INC. and Federal Savings Bank (formerly Federal Savings Bank, West Memphis) v. SYNDICATES OF UNDERWRITERS AT LLOYD'S, London Subscribing Policy G538944

No. 94-3081 M1/A United States District Court W.D. Tennessee Western Division.

Feb. 19, 1997.

In contract dispute, it is court's duty to enforce contracts as they are written and in accordance with ordinary meaning of language used and overall intent and purpose of the parties.

When contract is ambiguous, its construction is question of law for the court, and, in such circumstances, court will apply the rules of construction.

The undisputed facts are as follows:  On March 26, 1992, defendant issued a Savings and Loan Blanket Bond (No. 576/G53894400) ("bond") to KW Bancshares, Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries.  Federal Savings Bank ("FSB") is one such subsidiary.   

[4] [5] [6] In a contract dispute, "[i]t is the duty of courts to enforce contracts as they are written and in accordance with the ordinary meaning of the language used and the overall intent and purpose of the parties."  Hancock v. Tri-State Ins., 43 Ark.App. 47, 858 S.W.2d 152, 154 (1993).  "[W]hen a contract is ambiguous, its construction is a question of law for the court," and, in such circumstances, a court will apply the rules of construction.  Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. Carolina Cas. Ins. Co., 52 Ark.App. 35, 914 S.W.2d 324, 326 (1996).   

In addition to the foregoing, plaintiffs have not established that NMC is a banking institution. (FN9)  Although "banking institution" is not defined in the bond, plaintiffs argue that NMC is a banking institution because NMC handles mortgage loans and, thus, "falls under the umbrella of Title 45 of the Tennessee Code Annotated" and is regulated by Tennessee's Commissioner of Financial Institutions.  Defendant contends that, because NMC does not accept deposits or carry on the business of a banking institution, NMC is not a banking institution.

In Tennessee, "Banking institution" is defined as "any institution organized under this title, or under title 12, chapter 2 of the United States Code [national banks]."  Tenn.Code Ann. § 45-2-107(a)(1)(C).  "Bank" is defined as "any company that accepts deposits in Tennessee that are eligible for insurance under the provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act."  Id. § 45-2-107(a)(1)(A).  Chapter 13 of Title 45 of the Tennessee Code Annotated is the "Tennessee Residential Lending, Brokerage and Servicing Act of 1988."  Tenn.Code Ann. § 45-13-101.  Section 103(a) of the Act provides:

On and after January 1, 1989, no person shall engage in the business of making mortgage loans, nor shall any person engage in the business of being a mortgage loan broker in this state, nor shall any person engage in the business of being a mortgage loan servicer in this state, without first obtaining a license from the commissioner or filing a registration under this chapter.  

Plaintiffs contend that the Crenshaw letter meets the requirements for coverage under Insuring Agreement (E) because the letter was an original security agreement which bore a forged signature.  In addition, plaintiffs argue that the Certificate of Borrower is also an original security agreement which bore a forged signature.  Although the certificate itself does not bear a forged signature, plaintiffs reason that, because the Margolin memo submitted as an attachment to the certificate was forged, the certificate bears a forged signature.

The court granted partial summary judgment to the insurer, concluding that there was no coverage under two of the insuring agreements in the bond, including insuring agreement E, which was nearly identical to Insuring Agreement (E) in this case.  Id. at 862-63.   The court reasoned that the bank's loss was not caused by the lack of authenticity or genuineness of the documents.  On the contrary, the loss was caused by the fact that the statements contained in the documents were not true.  The assets represented thereby did not exist.  If the documents were authentic and their signatures genuine and authorized, the loss nonetheless would have occurred.  The failure of the security was not because they were counterfeit or forged, but solely because the assets purportedly represented thereby were nonexistent.  This loss falls upon the Bank and not the bonding company by the terms and intent of the bond.  

Id. at 863;  accord French Am.  Banking Corp. v. Flota Mercante Grancolombiana, 752 F.Supp. 83, 91 (S.D.N.Y.1990) (finding that bank's loss, stemming from false bills of lading accepted by the bank as security for extending a line of credit to a customer, was not covered under a blanket bond because, "[e]ven if the signatures had been identifiable and genuine, the bills still represented non-existent or previously completed transactions and (the bank) would have still suffered losses identical to those they now face.")  (citing > Reliance Ins. Co. v. Capital Bancshares.  Inc./Capital Bank, 685 F.Supp. 148 (N.D.Tex.1988), aff'd, 912 F.2d 756 (5th Cir.1990)), aff'd, > 925 F.2d 603 (2d Cir.1991);  cf.  Jefferson Bank v. Progressive Cas., Ins., Co., 965 F.2d 1274, 1283 n. 16 (3d Cir.1992) (distinguishing the case before it from the cases cited above because, had the notary's signature on the mortgage been valid and had mortgage been recorded, the bank "would have had valuable security").

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment is DENIED, and defendant's motion for summary judgment is GRANTED.

FN2. "Instructions or advices" is not defined in the bond.

FN3. "Banking institution" is not defined in the bond.

 FN10. Defendant also argues that, because the Crenshaw Letter was sent to FSB via facsimile, the Letter is not an "original."   Because there are other dispositive issues, the Court declines to reach this argument.

